
RULE §3.191 Description of Experience Required for Registration by Examination 

(a) Pursuant to §3.21, an Applicant for landscape architectural registration by examination (a)(1)(A) - (C)
of Subchapter B, an Applicant who graduated from a program granted professional status by the
Landscape Architectural Accrediting Board (LAAB) must successfully demonstrate that he/shethe
Applicant has gained at least 3,640 hours of two (2) years' actual experience in accordance with the
following table: Texas Table of Equivalents for Experience in Landscape Architecture contained in
subsection (c). 

(b) Pursuant to §3.21(a)(1)(D) of Subchapter B, an applicant who graduated from a qualifying landscape
architectural education program located outside the United States must successfully demonstrate that
he/she has completed at least three (3) years' actual experience in accordance with the Texas Table of
Equivalents for Experience in Landscape Architecture contained in subsection (c).

(c) The Texas Table of Equivalents for Experience in Landscape Architecture is as follows:

Attached Graphic 

Figure: 22 TAC §3.191(ac) 

DESCRIPTION OF EXPERIENCE 
Portion of 

Credit 
Awarded 

Maximum 
Credit 

Awarded 

LA-1 Diversified experience directly related to 
landscape architecture as an employee working 
under the direct supervision of a registered 
landscape architect 

full credit no limit 

LA-2 Diversified experience directly related to 
landscape architecture as an employee working 
under the direct supervision of a registered 
architect or civil engineer 

full credit 1,820 
hours1 

year 

LA-3 Diversified experience in landscape architecture 
directly related to on-site construction, 
maintenance, or installation procedures when the 
experience is not under the direct supervision of a 
registered landscape architect, architect, or civil 
engineer 

half credit 1,820 
hours1 

year 

LA-4 Teaching on a full-time basis in an LAAB-
accredited program in landscape architecture 

full credit 1,820 
hours1 

year 

(b)(d) An Applicant must earn at least 1,820 hoursone year of credit under the conditions described in 
category LA-1. 
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(e) In order to earn credit in category LA-1, LA-2, or LA-3, an Applicant must:

(1) work at least thirty-five (35) hours per week for a minimum of ten (10) consecutive weeks; or

(2) for half credit, work between twenty (20) and thirty-four (34) hours per week for a minimum of six
(6) consecutive months.

(c)(f) In order to earn credit in category LA-4, an Applicant must teach subjects that are directly related 
to the practice of landscape architecture. An Applicant may earn 1,820 hours one year of credit under 
this section by teaching for twenty (20) semester credit hours or thirty (30) quarter credit hours. 

(dg) An Applicant may not earn credit for experience gained prior to the date the Applicant successfully 
earned a high school diploma or completed an established equivalentcompleted the educational 
requirements for landscape architectural registration by examination in Texas. 
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G O V E R N O R G R E G A B B O T T

POST OFFICE BOX 12428 AUSTIN, TEXAS 78711 512-463-2000 (VOICE) DIAL 7-1-1 FOR RELAY SERVICES

To: Debra Dockery, Chair 
Julie Hildebrand, Executive Director 
Lance Brenton, General Counsel 
Texas Board of Architectural Examiners 

From: Erin Bennett, Director 
Regulatory Compliance Division, Office of the Governor 

Date: June 16, 2021 

Subject: Title 22 Texas Administrative Code Sections 3.21, 3.22, and 3.191 (RCD Rule 
Review #2021-007) 

I. Syllabus

The Texas Board of Architectural Examiners (“board”) filed an intent to review 22 TAC Chapter 
3 pursuant to Section 2001.039, Texas Government Code.1 The board submitted 22 TAC §§3.21, 
3.22, and 3.191, which set forth the requirements for landscape architectural registration by 
examination and reciprocity, and experience requirements for registration by examination, to the 
Regulatory Compliance Division (“division”) for review on March 26, 2021.2 The division 
invited public comments on the rules for a 30-day period ending April 28, 2021, but received no 
comments. The division has determined that §§3.21 and 3.22 are consistent with state policy and 
may be readopted. However, several provisions in §3.191 are inconsistent with state policy, so 
that rule may not be readopted without amendment.  

II. Analysis

Sections 1052.153 and 1052.154, Texas Occupations Code, create a three-pronged approach to 
registration as a landscape architect by requiring applicants to meet education, experience, and 
examination prerequisites, which are detailed in §§3.21 and 3.191.3 Additionally, Section 
1051.305, Texas Occupations Code, as reflected in §3.22, allows the board to waive prerequisites 
for applicants who hold credentials from another jurisdiction with substantially equivalent 
requirements or with which Texas has a reciprocity agreement. Because registration prerequisites 

1 46 Tex. Reg. 2049 (2021) (notice of intent to review 22 TAC chs. 1, 3, 5, and 7) (published Mar. 26, 2021) (Tex. 
Bd. Architectural Exam’rs.). 
2 Rule Submission Memorandum from the Texas Board of Architectural Examiners (Mar. 26, 2021), at 1, 6, and 10 
(on file with the Regulatory Compliance Division of the Office of the Governor). 
3 Id. at 2-3. 
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and limitations on reciprocal credentialing may create barriers to entering the market, the rules 
affect competition pursuant to Section 57.105(d)(1), Texas Occupations Code.4 

A. The education prerequisite in 22 TAC §3.21(a)(1) is consistent with state policy.

Section 1052.154(a)(1) requires applicants to graduate from a landscape architecture 
educational program recognized and approved by the board. Section 3.21(a)(1)(A) 
requires landscape architectural education programs to be accredited by the Landscape 
Architectural Accreditation Board (“LAAB”). By using a national accrediting body, the 
board is able to judge programs based on consistent standards, while applicants remain 
free to choose between programs of varying costs, locations, and reputations without 
impacting their eligibility for registration in Texas.5 Subparagraphs (B) and (C) provide 
additional flexibility for applicants who attend programs pending accreditation, which 
expands academic opportunities for students, as well as encourages new programs, while 
ultimately still holding applicants to the same education standards.6 

Further, §3.21(a)(1)(D) creates a pathway to registration for graduates of programs 
outside of the United States that are found to be substantially equivalent to a 
baccalaureate, master’s, or doctoral degree in landscape architecture in the United States. 
The board relies on a credential evaluation organization, which, while unable to certify a 
program’s substantial equivalency with LAAB-accreditation, can determine the 
program’s substantial equivalency to an American degree.7 Because these organizations 
have access to significant resources and expertise, such services are a common tool for 
occupational licensing agencies to facilitate consistent, reliable appraisals of foreign 
education. Accreditation and credential evaluation services allow the board to efficiently 
approve applicants’ landscape architectural education programs as required by Section 
1052.154(a)(1), and, thus, §3.21(a)(1) is consistent with state policy. 

B. The experience prerequisite in 22 TAC §3.21(a)(2) is supported by statute, but
several provisions in 22 TAC §3.191 are inconsistent with state policy.

Section 1052.154(a)(2) requires applicants to obtain satisfactory experience in landscape 
architecture as determined by the board. Section 3.21(a)(2) explains that experience must 
be obtained while working directly under a licensed landscape architect or through other 
experience in the Texas Table of Equivalents for Experience in Landscape Architecture 

4 Id. at 4-5, 8-9, and 13-14. 
5 See id. at 3; see also American Society of Landscape Architects, Accredited or Candidacy Programs, 
https://www.asla.org/FullListofAccreditedPrograms.aspx (last visited May 24, 2021). 
6 See 33 Tex. Reg. 2771 (2008) (preamble to proposed amended 22 TAC §3.21) (proposed Apr. 4, 2008) (Tex. Bd. 
Architectural Exam’rs.). 
7 Agency Response to Request for Additional Information (Apr. 16, 2021), at 4 and Appendix 2, pg. 5 (on file with 
the Regulatory Compliance Division of the Office of the Governor); Clarification to Agency Response to Request 
for Additional Information (Apr. 23, 2021) (on file with the Regulatory Compliance Division of the Office of the 
Governor). 
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(“Table of Equivalents”). The Table of Equivalents provides multiple ways for an 
applicant to be credited for relevant experience, even including work unsupervised by a 
professional, based on the board’s appraisal of the experience’s worth and relevance to 
registration.8 The board is given broad authority to determine what experience is 
acceptable for registration purposes, and, thus, the general requirement to obtain 
experience in §3.21(a)(2) and the Table of Equivalents in §3.191(c) are consistent with 
state policy. 

In §3.191(a), the board requires an applicant who graduates from a LAAB-accredited 
program to obtain two years of experience, including at least one year of work under the 
direct supervision of a registered landscape architect pursuant to §3.191(d). Comparing 
the experience required for registered architects and interior designers, and a national 
certification available to landscape architects, the board determined that two years’ 
experience was an appropriate minimum level to “learn about the daily realities of 
landscape architectural practice, acquire applied experience in basic practice areas, and 
develop professional judgment.”9 Thus, §3.191(a), requiring two years’ experience, and 
§3.191(d), requiring at least one year to be obtained under direct supervision of a
registered landscape architect, are consistent with state policy.

In contrast, §3.191(b) requires an applicant who graduates from a substantially equivalent 
program outside of the United States to obtain three years of experience. In 2016, the 
board was informed that its preferred credential evaluation organization was unable to 
certify equivalency with LAAB-accredited programs and could only assess equivalency 
with American degrees; the board then amended the rule to add a year of experience 
under the premise that it was necessary to “supplement the loss of certified equivalence 
with LAAB standards.”10 Nevertheless, after it learned of the organization’s limitations, 
the evaluation required by the board remained the same, and board rules continued to 
recognize that foreign programs could be substantially equivalent to American degrees.11 
As such, there was no clear “loss” — the credential evaluation organization certified the 
same information after 2016 as it had before — the board simply increased its experience 
requirements for applicants educated abroad. Absent a showing that accredited programs 
have an experiential component not found in foreign programs, or some similar 

8 Rule Submission Memorandum from the Texas Board of Architectural Examiners (Mar. 26, 2021), at 3-4. 
9 Id. at 2-3 and 11-12. 
10 Agency Response to Request for Additional Information (Apr. 16, 2021), at 4. The board believes the credential 
evaluation organization cannot account for administrative aspects of a foreign education program, such as program 
and institution management and policies. Clarification to Agency Response to Request for Additional Information 
(Apr. 23, 2021). 
11 Clarification to Agency Response to Request for Additional Information (Apr. 23, 2021). Between at least 2002 
and 2016, the board only required two years’ experience regardless of the location of where applicants received their 
education if it was substantially equivalent. See 22 TAC §3.191 (22 Tex. Reg. 2233) (2002) (adopted to be effective 
Mar. 25, 2002) (Tex. Bd. Architectural Exam’rs.) and 22 TAC §3.21 (26 Tex. Reg. 7844) (2001) (amended to be 
effective Oct. 10, 2001) (Tex. Bd. Architectural Exam’rs.).  
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substantive difference, requiring additional experience for only some applicants is not 
supported by statute and, thus, §3.191(b) is inconsistent with state policy.  

The board also creates limitations on crediting relevant experience in §3.191. While the 
board has authority to determine the type and quality of experience that is satisfactory for 
registration pursuant to Section 1052.154(a)(2), §3.191(e) sets minimum requirements for 
full-time and part-time employment and employment duration that are inconsistent with 
the board’s approach for another related profession under its jurisdiction. The board has 
not limited architectural applicants to minimum employment timeframes since at least 
2014, after finding applicants could not receive credit for short-term projects, internships, 
or work conducted over winter and spring breaks that were relevant to future licensed 
practice.12 The board attributes this difference to the need to ensure that the experience 
obtained by landscape architectural applicants is relevant to competency in landscape 
architecture, absent a similar national experience program such as is provided for 
architectural applicants.13 However, the board’s premise for the limitations in §3.191(e) 
— that longer employment will lead to deeper incorporation into a greater breadth of 
tasks — is not guaranteed, as even a long-term employee could be given only a few 
responsibilities or be exposed to only a narrow field within landscape architecture.14 
Moreover, these limitations may discourage aspiring landscape architects from seeking 
opportunities that provide more diverse or meaningful experience but are of a shorter 
duration because credit is not available. Ultimately, the limitations in §3.191(e) do not 
serve the statutory directive that applicants complete satisfactory experience and, thus, 
that subsection is inconsistent with state policy.  

Similarly, no policy supports the position in §3.191(g) that landscape architectural 
applicants should not receive credit for experience obtained while pursuing a degree, or 
even before, where it is permitted for architectural applicants. The division recognizes 
that the professions of architecture and landscape architecture are at different stages 
nationally and, thus, the board has access to different resources and information when 
considering the appropriateness of regulations. However, the board relies on substantially 
the same authority to set experience standards for the two closely-related professions, so 
any inconsistencies between requirements should be reasonably justified by and 
consistent with evidence.15 While the board posits that graduates may have access to 

12 Agency Response to Request for Additional Information (Apr. 16, 2021), at Appendix 1, pg. 48-53 (leading to the 
repeal of those requirements in 22 TAC §1.192 in 39 Tex. Reg. 4250 (2014)). 
13 Agency Response to Second Request for Additional Information (May 26, 2021), at 1-2 (on file with the 
Regulatory Compliance Division of the Office of the Governor). 
14 Id. at 2. The board also does not require applicants to report on types of experience, and applicants’ depth of 
knowledge is still subject to examination for minimum competency. Texas Board of Architectural Examiners, 
Landscape Architect Registration Employment Verification Form, 
https://www.tbae.texas.gov/Content/documents/HowToApply/forms/EmploymentVerificationLandscape.pdf. 
15 Sections 1051.705(a)(2) and 1052.154(a)(2), Texas Occupations Code; and see Regulatory Compliance Division 
Determination Letter for Proposed Title 22 Texas Administrative Code Sections 1.21 and 1.22 (RCD Rule Review 
#2021-005) (June 16, 2021) (on file with the Regulatory Compliance Division of the Office of the Governor). 

89



Texas Board of Architectural Examiners 
June 16, 2021 
Page 5 

more meaningful experience than current students, there is no evidence that the 
opportunities to earn experience for landscape architectural students are measurably 
inferior to those available for architectural students.16 Thus, the restriction in §3.191(g) is 
not supportable by state policy.  

In contrast to the above, requiring courses to be relevant to landscape architecture in 
§3.191(f), and clarifying how semester or quarter hours equate to a year, are reasonable
conditions to place on crediting academic experience and, thus, that subsection is
consistent with state policy.

C. Requiring applicants to pass the national Landscape Architect Registration
Examination, as incorporated into 22 TAC §3.21(a)(3), is consistent with state
policy.

Section 1052.153 requires applicants to pass an examination prescribed by the board. 
Section 3.21(a)(3) incorporates by reference 22 TAC Chapter 3, Subchapter C, which 
requires applicants to successfully complete all sections of the Landscape Architect 
Registration Examination (“LARE”), as administered by the Council of Landscape 
Architectural Registration Boards (“CLARB”).17 Section 1052.153(b) specifically 
authorizes the board to adopt the examination administered by CLARB, and Sections 
1051.302 and 1051.304(b) recognize that the board may rely on a third party to 
administer and score its examinations. Thus, the requirement to take the LARE, as 
incorporated into §3.21(a)(3), is consistent with state policy. 

D. The transition provisions in 22 TAC §3.21(b) and (c) are no longer needed, but
requiring applicants to submit proof of legal status in 22 TAC §3.21(d) is consistent
with state policy.

In §3.21(b) and (c), the board provided for the application of older rules to applicants 
who commenced their education or experience prior to September 1, 1999, and applied 
for registration by examination on or before August 31, 2011. Both subsections likely 
prevented the interruption of education or experience being accrued during a change in 
registration requirements, but they have been expired for a decade. As neither statute nor 
circumstances currently require similar language, these subsections may be removed 
from the rule without affecting competition to improve clarity for applicants. 
Additionally, §3.21(d) requires applicants to submit proof of legal status in the United 
States in the form of a birth certificate or other documentation, pursuant to federal law 
and as implemented in Section 231.302(c)(1), Texas Family Code.18 Thus, that provision 
is consistent with state policy.  

16 Agency Response to Second Request for Additional Information (May 26, 2021), at 2. 
17 22 TAC §3.41 et seq. 
18 Personal Responsibility and Work Opportunity Reconciliation Act of 1996, 110 Stat. 2268 (1996), at Sections 317 
and 411 (establishing 42 U.S.C. §666(a)(13) and 8 U.S.C. §1621, respectively).  
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E. The criteria for registration by reciprocity in 22 TAC §3.22 are consistent with
state policy.

Finally, as stated above, Section 1051.305 clearly authorizes the board to waive any 
prerequisite to obtaining a certificate of registration for an applicant who holds a license 
or certificate of registration issued by another jurisdiction that has substantially 
equivalent registration requirements or with which Texas has a reciprocity agreement. 
Section 3.22(a) restates that authority, and Subsection (b) outlines the criteria an 
applicant must meet to obtain a reciprocal registration, including the successful 
completion of the LARE or a comparable exam, and at least two years of acceptable 
experience following registration in another jurisdiction. The board broadly interprets 
“acceptable landscape architectural practice” in §3.22(b)(1)(B) as the time during which 
the applicant was engaged in the practice of landscape architecture while registered in 
another jurisdiction, which captures professional experience without limitation.19 
Alternatively, applicants may qualify for reciprocity through CLARB certification, which 
requires three years’ experience in addition to passage of the LARE, which exceeds the 
board’s standards required for registration by examination for domestically-educated 
applicants.20 Although applicants for architectural registration by reciprocity may qualify 
by virtue of experience gained prior to their original registration, the national program 
through which that experience is verified is not available in the landscape architecture 
industry, which also does not have comparably standardized experience requirements 
across jurisdictions.21 Thus, the board’s assertion that two years’ experience post-
registration “helps to ensure that any deficiency in pre-licensure experience has not 
manifested in unsafe practice following registration” is a reasonable condition on 
reciprocal registrants.22 Finally, §3.22(c) requires the payment of the registration fee, 
consistent with Section 1051.305(c)(1). Thus, §3.22 is consistent with state policy.  

III. Determination

Based on the above analysis, 22 TAC §§3.21 and 3.22 are approved by the division and may be 
readopted pursuant to Section 2001.039, Texas Government Code. However, the division has 
determined that several provisions in §3.191 are not consistent with state policy. Consequently, 
that rule is disapproved by the division.  

Consistent with the above analysis, the division offers the following precise instructions for 
revision: 

19 Agency Response to Request for Additional Information (Apr. 16, 2021), at 3. 
20 Rule Submission Memorandum from the Texas Board of Architectural Examiners (Mar. 26, 2021), at 4. 
21 Agency Response to Second Request for Additional Information (May 26, 2021), at 3. 
22 Id. 
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The board should revise the requirement in §3.191(b) that applicants who have a 
substantially equivalent degree obtained outside the United States must obtain 
extra experience. The board may consider what criteria foreign education 
programs must meet to be substantially equivalent to LAAB-accredited programs, 
but cannot treat applicants with substantially equivalent educations differently. 

The board should also remove the conditions in §3.191(e) and (g) that prevent 
applicants from obtaining credit for relevant experience gained for short-term 
projects and experience obtained while applicants pursue higher education.  

The board may readopt §3.191 without resubmission to the division if it adheres to the precise 
instructions for revision and makes no additional substantive changes to the rule. Alternatively, 
the board may take a different approach to address the inconsistencies identified by the division, 
but must resubmit the rule for approval by the division prior to readoption. 
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TEXAS BOARD OF ARCHITECTURAL EXAMINERS 
SUMMARY OF PROPOSED 
ENFORCEMENT ACTION 

This document is an internal document relating to an uncontested case to be 
considered by the Texas Board of Architectural Examiners. This document is prepared 
to inform, advise and assist the Board in addressing this uncontested case. 

Case Number: 166-21A
Respondent:  Peter John DePasquale
Location of Respondent: East Setauket, NY
Instrument:  Report and Notice of Violation

Findings: 
• Peter John DePasquale (hereafter “Respondent”) is registered as an architect in

Texas with registration number 26788.
• On or about May 7, 2018, Respondent issued a set of construction documents to the

City of Austin for a residential project located on West James Street in Austin, TX.
However, Respondent failed to indicate the date of signature and signed the
documents in a manner that obscured the name and registration number on his seal.

• On or about July 9, 2021, Respondent stated “As I continue to work in the State of
Texas, I will ensure that from this day forward, all documents submitted for approvals
will comply with Title 22, Part 1, Chapter 1, Subchapter F, Rule 1.103 – Required Use
of Seal and Retention of Sealed Documents.”

Applicable Statutory Provisions and Rules: 
• By failing to affix the date of signing on his seal to construction documents for the

project, Respondent violated Board Rule 1.103(a)(1)&(2).
• By signing construction documents for the project in a manner that obscured the

name and registration number on his seal, Respondent violated Board Rule
1.103(a)(2).

Action Recommended by Executive Director: 
• Enter an Order which adopts the findings of fact, conclusions of law, and

recommended administrative penalty of $500 as set forth in the Report and Notice of
Violation dated July 30, 2021.
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TEXAS BOARD OF ARCHITECTURAL EXAMINERS 
SUMMARY OF PROPOSED 
ENFORCEMENT ACTION 

This document is an internal document relating to an uncontested case to be 
considered by the Texas Board of Architectural Examiners.  This document is prepared 
to inform, advise, and assist the Board in addressing this uncontested case. 

Case Number: 043-20N
Respondent:  James McKinney
Location of Respondent: Austin, TX
Instrument:  Revised Report and Notice of Violation

Findings: 
• James McKinney (hereafter “Respondent”) is not and has never been registered as

an architect in Texas.
• On or about October 28, 2019, the Board received an email from “D.J.,” a plans

examiner with the City of Austin inquiring about a set of architectural plans that had
been submitted for permitting for a project identified as The McKinney Family
Residence. The architectural plans bore a purported Texas architect’s seal. The seal
included the name of an individual with the initials “P.L.” and a registration number that
had previously been issued to registered architect “B.S.,” who voluntarily surrendered
the registration in 2015.

• On or about October 29, 2019, after he was notified that an investigation had been
opened against P.L. for the unregistered practice of architecture and use of a replica
architectural seal, Respondent admitted that he himself had created the replica seal
and affixed the seal to the project The McKinney Family Residence in Austin, Texas.
Furthermore, Respondent clarified that neither P.L. nor B.S. were involved in or had
any knowledge of the creation of the replica architectural seal or its affixation on the
architectural plans for this project.

• Respondent fully cooperated with the investigation by admitting to the violation and
surrendering the replica seal to the Board. In a letter dated November 25, 2019,
Respondent acknowledged that his actions “were unprofessional and lacked basic
common sense.” Additionally, he stated, “I purchased a stamp online to bypass what
I think are some ridiculous rules the City of Austin has in place in their building
standards,” and emphasized that “this house is designed and is being built for me and
my family without any consideration of selling.”

Applicable Statutory Provisions and Rules: 
• By creating a replica of an architect’s seal and by affixing the seal to architectural plans

on the project The McKinney Family Residence, Respondent violated Tex. Occ. Code
1051.702 and 22 Tex. Admin. Code 1.104(c).

Action Recommended by Executive Director: 
• Enter an Order which adopts the findings of fact, conclusions of law, and

recommended administrative penalty of $4,000 and requires the Respondent to cease
and desist from violating  Occupations Code Chapter 1051, as set forth in the Revised
Report and Notice of Violation dated September 22, 2021.
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TEXAS BOARD OF ARCHITECTURAL EXAMINERS 
SUMMARY OF PROPOSED 
ENFORCEMENT ACTION 

This document is an internal document relating to an uncontested case to be 
considered by the Texas Board of Architectural Examiners. This document is prepared 
to inform, advise and assist the Board in addressing this uncontested case. 

Case Number: 178-20A
Respondent:  Chong Ho Shin
Location of Respondent: Austin, TX
Instrument:  Report and Notice of Violation

Findings: 
• Chong Ho Shin (hereafter “Respondent”) is registered as an architect in Texas with

registration number 22313.
• Respondent is the founder and principal of Shin Architecture, PLLC.
• On or about November 10, 2015, J.R., a registered Texas architect, issued

architectural plans for a residential project located on Gaylor Street in Austin, Texas.
This project was built by Capital City Builders. Respondent did not participate in the
design or drawing process for this project at any time prior to the date the drawings
were issued on November 10, 2015.

• On or about April 11, 2017, Respondent issued a set of architectural drawings for a
project identified as 1130 Mason Avenue located in Austin, Texas. The architectural
plans were issued to Capital City Builders and/or the City of Austin and were used for
the purposes of regulatory approval. However, Respondent failed to seal the
architectural plans or indicate on the plans that they were not for regulatory approval,
permitting or construction.

• On or about June 28, 2017, Respondent affixed his architectural seal, signature and
sealing date to architectural plans for the project, 1130 Mason Avenue. Subsequently,
these architectural plans were submitted to the City of Austin for permitting and
approval. The plans that were sealed by Respondent had been created outside of his
supervision and control, in that they were largely identical to those that had been
previously submitted for permitting for the Gaylor Street project, prior to Respondent’s
involvement.

Applicable Statutory Provisions and Rules: 
• By issuing plans on April 11, 2017 that were neither sealed nor marked as being not

for regulatory approval, permitting or construction, Respondent violated Board Rule
1.101 and/or 1.103(a).

• By placing his seal on architectural plans that were prepared outside of his supervision
and control, Respondent violated Tex. Occ. Code §1051.752(1) and Board Rule
1.104(a).

Action Recommended by Executive Director: 
• Enter an Order which adopts the findings of fact, conclusions of law, and

recommended administrative penalty of $4,000 as set forth in the Report and Notice
of Violation dated July 29, 2021.

95
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SUMMARY OF PROPOSED 
ENFORCEMENT ACTION 

This document is an internal document relating to an uncontested case to be 
considered by the Texas Board of Architectural Examiners.  This document is prepared 
to inform, advise and assist the Board in addressing this uncontested case. 

Case Number: 207-21A
Respondent:  Erick Karl Peck
Location of Respondent: Dallas, TX
Nature of Violation:  Violation of Continuing Education Requirements
Instrument:  Report and Notice of Violation

Findings: 
• Erick Karl Peck (hereafter “Respondent”) is registered as an architect in Texas with

registration number 25205.
• Based upon the results of a random continuing education audit, it was determined that

Respondent failed to complete his continuing education requirements for the audit
period of January 1, 2020 through December 31, 2020.

• In addition to failing to complete the required continuing education hours within the
continuing education period, Respondent falsely certified completion of CE
responsibilities in order to renew his architectural registration.

Applicable Statutory Provisions and Rules: 
• By indicating at the time of his online renewal that he was in compliance with the

Board’s mandatory continuing education requirements, Respondent provided the
Board with false information in violation of Board rule 1.69(h).  The Board’s standard
assessment for providing false information is $700.

• By failing to timely complete the required continuing education program hours,
Respondent violated Board rule 1.69(b). The standard administrative penalty
assessed for this violation is $500.

Action Recommended by Executive Director: 
• Enter an Order which adopts the findings of fact, conclusions of law, and

recommended administrative penalty of $1,200 as set forth in the Report and Notice
of Violation dated September 16, 2021.
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ENFORCEMENT ACTION 

This document is an internal document relating to an uncontested case to be 
considered by the Texas Board of Architectural Examiners.  This document is prepared 
to inform, advise and assist the Board in addressing this uncontested case. 

Case Number: 183-21A
Respondent:  Joe Clark Toldan
Location of Respondent: Carrollton, TX
Nature of Violation:  Violation of Continuing Education Requirements
Instrument:  Report and Notice of Violation

Findings: 
• Joe Clark Toldan (hereafter “Respondent”) is registered as an architect in Texas with

registration number 9107.
• Based upon the results of a random continuing education audit, it was determined that

Respondent failed to complete his continuing education requirements for the audit
period of January 1, 2020 through December 31, 2020.

• In addition to failing to complete the required continuing education hours eithin the
continuing education period, Respondent falsely certified completion of CE
responsibilities in order to renew his architectural registration.

Applicable Statutory Provisions and Rules: 
• By indicating at the time of his online renewal that he was in compliance with the

Board’s mandatory continuing education requirements, Respondent provided the
Board with false information in violation of Board rule 1.69(h). The Board’s standard
assessment for providing false information is $700.

• By failing to timely complete the required continuing education program hours,
Respondent violated Board rule 1.69(b). The standard administrative penalty
assessed for this violation is $500.

Action Recommended by Executive Director: 
• Enter an Order which adopts the findings of fact, conclusions of law, and

recommended administrative penalty of $1,200 as set forth in the Report and Notice
of Violation dated July 29, 2021.
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